

## Policy

## Compliance and Enforcement Policy

May 2021



Department of Water and Environmental Regulation 8 Davidson Terrace

Joondalup Western Australia 6027 Telephone +61 8 6364 7000 Facsimile +61 8 6364 7001

National Relay Service 13 36 77 www.dwer.wa.gov.au

© Government of Western Australia

FIRST 115821

May 2021

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this material in unaltered form only (retaining this notice) for your personal, non-commercial use or use within your organisation. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, all other rights are reserved. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation.

#### Disclaimer

This document has been published by the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation. Any representation, statement, opinion or advice expressed or implied in this publication is made in good faith and on the basis that the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation and its employees are not liable for any damage or loss whatsoever which may occur as a result of action taken or not taken, as the case may be in respect of any representation, statement, opinion or advice referred to herein. Professional advice should be obtained before applying the information contained in this document to particular circumstances.

This publication is available at <u>www.dwer.wa.gov.au</u> or for those with special needs it can be made available in alternative formats such as audio, large print, or Braille.



### Contents

1.	Purpose	4
2.	Scope	4
3.	Context	5
4.	Legislation	5
5.	Regulatory approach	5
	5.1 Regulatory best practice principles	6
6.	Compliance	7
	6.1 Establishing compliance priorities	8
	6.2 Compliance promotion	8
	6.3 Compliance monitoring	8
7.	Enforcement	9
	7.1 Enforcement principles	9
	7.2 Types of enforcement actions	10
	7.3 Selecting the appropriate enforcement action	12
	7.4 Selecting the appropriate party for enforcement action	14
8.	Compliance and enforcement outcomes	14



### 1. Purpose

The Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (the department) is responsible for ensuring the state's water resources and environment are healthy, and able to support a strong economy and thriving communities. The department strives to ensure there is a balance between protecting environmental values while still enabling responsible socio-economic growth.

As the public sector agency responsible for assisting the Ministers for Environment and Water to administer a range of legislation pertaining to the state's water and environment, the department has wide-ranging statutory and regulatory responsibilities directed at achieving improved outcomes for public health, the environment and our water resources.

The department is committed to being a responsive and credible regulator by consistently applying and enforcing the legislation it administers. Compliance with the law is not a matter of choice but a requirement, and the department has a range of regulatory tools to promote, monitor and enforce compliance.

This Compliance and Enforcement Policy details the department's approach to ensuring compliance with the legislation it administers, and responding to breaches of the law to deter and punish offenders and rehabilitate damage caused to the environment.

### 2. Scope

This Compliance and Enforcement Policy is applicable to all legislation for which the department principally assists the Ministers for Environment and Water to administer, and includes any legislation administered by other Ministers for which departmental officers are authorised or have statutory responsibilities.

It is relevant to all sectors of the Western Australian community, and in particular applies to:

- industry and commercial enterprises, both licensed and unlicensed
- members of the public
- federal, state and local government agencies
- legal practitioners
- department staff.

It details how the department undertakes its compliance and enforcement functions; however, it is general in nature and does not confine, restrain or limit the discretion of the department.



### 3. Context

The Western Australian community has an expectation that the State's laws will be applied and their application enforced.

The department uses a range of tools to monitor compliance with the legislation it administers and to prevent breaches. It will focus its resources on those matters that pose the greatest risk to public health, the environment and water resources.

Breaches of legislation have consequences and the department will actively seek to identify breaches, rectify non-compliance and take appropriate enforcement action against those who breach the legislation.

### 4. Legislation

The state legislation to which the Compliance and Enforcement Policy is applicable includes the following:

- Contaminated Sites Act 2003
- Country Areas Water Supply Act 1947
- Environmental Protection Act 1986
- Litter Act 1979
- Metropolitan Water Supply, Sewerage, and Drainage Act 1909
- Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914
- Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007
- Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Levy Act 2007
- Water Agencies (Powers) Act 1984
- Waterways Conservation Act 1976
- Water Services Act 2012

### 5. Regulatory approach

The department's *Strategic Plan 2018–2021* states that one of its five strategic directions is to be a responsive and credible regulator by:

- providing consistency and certainty for stakeholders through a streamlined approach to regulatory assessment and advice
- applying regulatory best practice principles and ensuring effective internal practices, online systems and resources to deliver good customer service
- undertaking appropriate compliance and enforcement, and ensuring regulated stakeholders meet their commitments



The department uses a cyclic approach to its regulatory responsibilities – driving continual improvement through a feedback loop.

Compliance is a vital input into the regulatory cycle, providing valuable information to encourage continual improvement and enhance public health, and environmental and water resource outcomes.

Information from compliance monitoring may be used to improve statutory instruments, drive decisions on new or amended applications and guide development and modification of policies, guidelines and regulations.

Where a breach of the law is identified, there is a requirement for enforcement to act as a deterrence against future breaches of law by the offender and others within the community.

Enforcement responds to alleged breaches of the law and may involve a range of actions depending on the context of the breach. Information from the enforcement action may be used to improve future regulation of that entity or industry sector.

The department's Regulatory approach is available on the department's website (*www.dwer.wa.gov.au*).

### 5.1 Regulatory best practice principles

In accordance with being a responsive and credible regulator, the department has developed six best practice regulatory principles. These principles guide the department in the delivery of its regulatory functions and are embedded into our compliance and enforcement actions. The Regulatory best practice principles are available on the department's website (*www.dwer.wa.gov.au*)



### 6. Compliance

Compliance with the law is not a matter of choice, it is a requirement. Compliance refers to adhering to and fulfilling legislative and regulatory requirements. As a regulator, a fundamental role of the department is to monitor compliance with the legislation it administers.

### 6.1 Establishing compliance priorities

The department will establish compliance priorities to achieve the best outcomes for public health, the environment and water resources, while making the most beneficial use of available resources. In line with the department's regulatory principles, this will be accomplished using a risk-based methodology.

To ensure there is not an unacceptable risk to public health, the environment or water resources, the department will prioritise events or activities that represent the greatest level of risk.

To inform and provide context for establishing our risk based compliance priorities, the department will use the best available intelligence to consider the following factors:

- the industry type, nature, scale, complexity and history of the property, activity or event
- compliance history of the business or person associated with the property, activity or event
- controls and measures a person or business has in place to mitigate impacts on public health, the environment or water resources
- the location of water resources and the environment, including people, and their susceptibility to impacts to their value, beneficial use, quality, vulnerability or rarity
- any suspected impacts to public health, the environment, water resources and users.

### 6.2 Compliance promotion

The department is committed to providing information and support to promote understanding and encourage compliance.

Being clear about expected public health, environmental and water resource outcomes helps remove barriers to compliance and overcome factors that may encourage unlawful conduct. It also raises awareness about the benefits of complying with legislation, as well as the potential consequences of failing to do so.

Compliance assistance materials, such as guidelines and fact sheets, are available on the department's website.



### 6.3 Compliance monitoring

Compliance monitoring is a fundamental role of the department and a variety of methods may be used to monitor and determine levels of compliance with the requirements of legislation, licences and other statutory instruments. These include:

#### 1. Inspections, reviews and audits

The department undertakes field and desktop assessments, including inspections, analysis of aerial and satellite imagery and use of intelligence, to gather and assess information on potential risks, as part of its annual compliance program.

The compliance program allows for both a proactive and reactive component. The proactive approach includes specific industries, properties and licensees based on a risk assessment. The reactive component enables resources to be dedicated to unexpected events and emergent issues to enable effective risk and evidence-based regulation.

### 2. Industry reporting - statutory and self-reporting

Under some of the legislation administered by the department, certain instrument holders are required to report on compliance with their statutory instrument. Other legislation requires the reporting of, and monitoring associated with, activities that have the potential to cause detrimental impacts or harm.

#### 3. Information from other regulatory authorities

Unlawful conduct may be detected by officers from other regulatory authorities, such as local government, water service providers or other State Government departments, during their own compliance activities or as part of joint activities with the department. The department will consider this information as part of its compliance monitoring.

### 4. Community reports and complaints

Members of the public are encouraged to report pollution, misuse of water resources or other environmental issues to the department. Information from the public plays a vital role in assisting to identify breaches.

The department will receive, record and acknowledge all reports, and assess the risk posed to public health, the environment and water resources. Based on this assessment, the department will determine an appropriate level of response. In line with its compliance priorities, resources are allocated according to risk.

The department's compliance activities are aimed at protecting public health, the environment and water resources. Compliance information will be monitored and analysed. Where appropriate, it will drive regulatory changes such as licence amendments and improvements to policies and plans.

The department will continually evaluate the effectiveness of its compliance approach and instigate change as required.



### 7. Enforcement

Enforcement is a response to identified breaches of the law and involves a range of different actions to deter and punish offenders, support compliance, reduce the risk of existing or ongoing impacts and rehabilitate damage to the environment.

In this context enforcement has two key elements:

- Remedy: fixing the problem or 'making good'.
- Sanction: enforcement action undertaken to punish, deter and change behaviour.

### 7.1 Enforcement principles

The department will undertake enforcement actions, as outlined in Section 7.2, in accordance with the following principles:

- Enforcement action will be in proportion to the magnitude or seriousness of the alleged offence and/or the impact to public health, the environment and water resources, taking into account the conduct of the parties and implications for the administration of the legislation.
- Prosecution is a type of enforcement tool to be employed where it is the appropriate response to a particular circumstance (i.e. not a last resort).
- Decisions regarding enforcement action will be made in a timely manner.
- Enforcement action will be taken where legislative objectives require enforcement action.
- Enforcement action will only be taken when the statutory prerequisites for that action are satisfied.
- In every case where a breach of the legislation is established, some form of written enforcement action will result.
- Departmental officers will not condone or authorise the continuation of an offence once detected.
- In undertaking enforcement actions the department will consider the likelihood that the desired outcome will be achieved. Desired outcomes include the environmental or water resource management outcome in a particular case, compliance with other principles of this policy and implications for the administration of the legislation.
- Enforcement requirements will be stated in unambiguous terms aimed at facilitating a clear understanding by all parties of what constitutes compliance or a breach.
- Enforcement actions will be applied consistently across all sectors of the community, industry and government and will embrace impartiality, objectivity and adherence to due process.
- Enforcement action will be carried out consistent with the legislative powers and responsibilities conferred on the department.



### 7.2 Types of enforcement action

Breaches of law carry consequences. Following identification of a breach of legislation, some form of written enforcement action will result.

The types of enforcement actions the department may employ are outlined below. For most enforcement actions, the alleged offender has a right to challenge or appeal the department's decision.

Types of enforcement actions				
Non-statutory notice	The department may issue a variety of non-statutory notices, including environmental field notices, caution notices, letters of education, management letters or non-compliance notices, which may request certain actions to be undertaken. Failure to act in accordance with a non-statutory notice may result in further enforcement action. The breach, although rectified, may also result in further enforcement action; for example, the issue of a non-statutory written warning, infringement notice, modified penalty or commencement of a prosecution.			
Non-statutory written warning	A non-statutory written warning is a notice issued by the department where it believes an offence has been committed. A non-statutory written warning may be given when an administrative, technical or minor breach has occurred, or the impact or potential impact is minor or trivial in nature. A non-statutory written warning may be provided in the form of a field-issued notice or a formal letter of warning.			
Statutory notice or direction	A statutory notice or direction is a written notice that requires certain actions to be taken, or to be ceased, within a specified time. Legislation authorising the giving of a statutory notice or direction identifies criteria which must be satisfied before issuing of the notice. It is an offence to fail to comply with a statutory notice or direction. Further enforcement action may be taken if the offender does not comply with a statutory notice or direction within the specified time. The following are examples of statutory notices and directions: environmental protection notice, vegetation conservation notice, noise control notice, investigation notice, clean up notice, cease, take or close a well and hazard abatement notice.			

Modified penalty notice <i>Environmental</i> <i>Protection Act</i> 1986	A modified penalty notice under the <i>Environmental Protection Act 1986</i> is a written notice of an alleged Tier 2 offence under s.99 of that Act. It requires the payment of a penalty of 10 per cent of the maximum fine for a first offence or 20 per cent for subsequent offences, or the election of court action. A modified penalty notice may be issued when the legislative criteria has been met. Payment of the penalty is not regarded as an admission for the purposes of any proceedings, whether civil or criminal. If the recipient of a modified penalty notice elects to have the matter heard in court, proceedings will occur in the Magistrates Court. Prosecution will be initiated by the department if a modified penalty notice is not paid within the specified time.	
Physical intervention	The department may take physical action itself to remedy unlawful conduct including a non-compliance, which may include rehabilitating an affected area, removing or decommissioning an unlawful construction or cleaning up pollution. If this occurs, the offender may be pursued for the cost of the action taken. The department will only take such action when authorised by legislation and in accordance with that legislation.	
Suspension or revocation of instrument	<ul> <li>The department may, by written notice, suspend or cancel a works approval, licence or permit. This may result in the closure of the premises or cessation of the activity.</li> <li>Subject to relevant legislation, revocation or suspension of a works approval, licence or permit may be used when: <ul> <li>there has been contravention of a licence condition</li> <li>false or misleading information has been provided in or supporting the application to obtain an approval, licence or permit</li> <li>the person's offence history indicates that the licensee is not a fit and proper person</li> <li>the current business address of the holder of the approval, licence or permit is unknown</li> <li>there is a detrimental effect of actions authorised by the licence on another person</li> <li>to protect the water resource to which the licence relates from unacceptable damage</li> <li>to protect the associated environment from unacceptable damage.</li> </ul> </li> <li>When considering the exercise of this power, the department will give the alleged offender a reasonable opportunity, as specified by the appropriate legislation, to show cause in writing why the power should not be used.</li> <li>The department will only suspend or revoke a works approval, licence or permit where such action is authorised under relevant legislation.</li> </ul>	



Infringement notice	An infringement notice is a written allegation that a person has committed an offence. It requires the payment of a fine or election to have the matter heard in court. If the fine is paid, it is not regarded as an admission of guilt for the purposes of any proceedings, whether civil or criminal and no criminal conviction is recorded against the person. If the alleged offender elects to have the matter heard in court, prosecution action will commence. If an infringement notice is not paid, and the alleged offender has not elected to have the matter heard in court, the department may refer the matter to the Fines Enforcement Registry for collection or action. The department also retains the right to initiate prosecution if an infringement notice is not paid within the specified time. An infringement notice may be issued when: • the offence is one that may be dealt with by issue of an infringement notice under the legislation	
	recorded against the person. If the alleged offender elects to have the matter heard in court, prosecution action will commence. If an infringement notice is not paid, and the alleged offender has not elected to have the matter heard in court, the department may refer the matter to the Fines Enforcement Registry for collection or action. The department also retains the right to initiate prosecution if an infringement notice is not paid within the specified time.	
	An infringement notice will generally not be selected as an enforcement action in the following situations as they justify more serious action:	
	<ul> <li>the offence has significant impact upon public health, the environment or water resources</li> <li>the offence is continuing and not able to be rectified quickly</li> <li>multiple related offences have occurred, and/or another government department has issued a notice for the same or similar offence in the same period.</li> </ul>	
Prosecution	The department will employ prosecution where it is the appropriate response to a particular circumstance. It will not be applied only as a last resort. Specific information about prosecution as an enforcement action is provided in the department's Prosecution Guideline.	

### 7.3 Selecting the appropriate enforcement action

There is no 'one size fits all' response to addressing breaches of law. Likewise, not all breaches of law are of equal significance. The choice of enforcement action will depend upon the context of the issue.

The department has discretion in selecting the most appropriate enforcement action to use. However, in accordance with the department's regulatory principles, decisions regarding enforcement action will be consistent, transparent and proportionate to the seriousness of the offence.



Any enforcement action taken by the department aims to ensure that the sanction applied reflects the seriousness of the offence and acts as a deterrent to reoffending.

#### Determining factors in selection of enforcement action

The department considers three main factors in selecting the most appropriate enforcement action

#### 1. Seriousness of alleged offence

The department will determine the seriousness of the alleged offence having regard to:

- location, severity, quantity, extent and duration of the impact, or potential impact, of the alleged offence
- · costs avoided or profits realised by the alleged offence
- the degree of culpability of the alleged offender
- issues of public concern, including the need for specific and general deterrence.

#### 2. Behaviour of alleged offender

The department will consider the behaviour of the alleged offender when determining appropriate enforcement action having regard to:

- the alleged offender's attitude to the alleged offence, including whether the unlawful conduct was intentional or opportunistic
- any voluntary action by the alleged offender to mitigate harm to public health, the environment and/or water resources, and any mechanisms implemented to prevent any recurrence
- compliance, or failure to comply, with requests, lawful directions or notices given by the department in relation to the alleged offence
- cooperation with the department and willingness to commit to appropriate remedial actions
- any false or misleading statements made by the alleged offender
- timeliness of notification of the alleged offence to the department and the quality and quantity of information provided. (Note that some legislation requires mandatory notification to the department as soon as the party becomes aware of a non-compliance. In these cases where timely notification does not occur, an offence is committed.)

#### 3. Previous history

The department will consider the previous history of the alleged offender with regard to compliance with legislation and frequency and seriousness of any past offences.



# 7.4 Selecting the appropriate party for enforcement action

A wide range of people may have participated in, or contributed to, the commission of an offence. It is not always appropriate to take enforcement action against every person who may be liable for an offence. However, in some cases where more than one person or company combine to commit an offence, it may be appropriate to prosecute all of the relevant offenders.

In selecting the appropriate party for enforcement action, the department will generally consider the following:

- who was primarily responsible;
- who formed the intent, who committed the act, and who created the material circumstances leading to the alleged offence
- in the case of strict liability, the role of the alleged offender
- potential liability of the corporation, body corporate, directors and executive officers, including vicarious liability
- potential liability of employees and/or contractors
- potential liability of lending institutions, in particular, the categories of 'legal owners and occupiers'
- potential liability of public authorities.

### 8. Compliance and enforcement outcomes

In accordance with the department's regulatory principle of transparency, the outcomes of compliance and enforcement activities and actions will be made publicly available where possible. This may include publication of prosecutions and statutory notices such as Environmental Protection Notices and Vegetation Conservation Notices on our website and through reports such as our annual report and quarterly regulatory performance report.

### Custodian and review

The currency of this document will be continuously evaluated and reviewed no later than five years from the date of issue or sooner as required.

Document details		
Lead group (custodian)	Compliance and Enforcement Division	
Current version	1.1	
Corporate file number		